As Introduced

131st General Assembly
Regular Session S. B. No. 162

2015-2016

Senators Seitz, Williams
Cosponsors: Senators Lehner, Balderson, Sawyer, Brown, Hite, Thomas, Yuko,
LaRose, Eklund, Schiavoni, Beagle, Tavares

A BILL

To amend sections 2929.02, 2929.022, 2929.024,
2929.03, 2929.04, 2929.06, 2953.21, and 2953.23
and to enact section 2929.025 of the Revised
Code to provide that a person convicted of
aggravated murder who shows that the person had
a serious mental illness at the time of
committing the offense cannot be sentenced to
death for the offense and to provide a mechanism
for resentencing to a life sentence a person
previously sentenced to death who proves that
the person had a serious mental illness at the

time of committing the offense.

BE IT ENACTED BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE STATE OF OHIO:

Section 1. That sections 2929.02, 2929.022, 2929.024,
2929.03, 2929.04, 2929.06, 2953.21, and 2953.23 be amended and
section 2929.025 of the Revised Code be enacted to read as

follows:

Sec. 2929.02. (A) Whoever is convicted of or pleads guilty

to aggravated murder in violation of section 2903.01 of the
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Revised Code shall suffer death or be imprisoned for life, as
determined pursuant to sections 2929.022, 2929.03, and 2929.04
of the Revised Code, except that no person who raises the matter
of age pursuant to section 2929.023 of the Revised Code and who
is not found to have been eighteen years of age or older at the

time of the commission of the offense and no person who raises

the matter of the person's serious mental illness at the time of

the alleged commission of the offense pursuant to section

2929.025 of the Revised Code and is found under that section to

be ineligible for a sentence of death due to serious mental

illness shall suffer death. In addition, the offender may be
fined an amount fixed by the court, but not more than twenty-

five thousand dollars.

(B) (1) Except as otherwise provided in division (B) (2) or
(3) of this section, whoever is convicted of or pleads guilty to
murder in violation of section 2903.02 of the Revised Code shall

be imprisoned for an indefinite term of fifteen years to life.

(2) Except as otherwise provided in division (B) (3) of

this section, if a person is convicted of or pleads guilty to
murder in violation of section 2903.02 of the Revised Code, the
victim of the offense was less than thirteen years of age, and
the offender also is convicted of or pleads guilty to a sexual
motivation specification that was included in the indictment,
count in the indictment, or information charging the offense,
the court shall impose an indefinite prison term of thirty years
to life pursuant to division (B) (3) of section 2971.03 of the

Revised Code.

(3) If a person is convicted of or pleads guilty to murder
in violation of section 2903.02 of the Revised Code and also is

convicted of or pleads guilty to a sexual motivation
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specification and a sexually violent predator specification that
were included in the indictment, count in the indictment, or
information that charged the murder, the court shall impose upon
the offender a term of life imprisonment without parole that

shall be served pursuant to section 2971.03 of the Revised Code.

(4) In addition, the offender may be fined an amount fixed

by the court, but not more than fifteen thousand dollars.

(C) The court shall not impose a fine or fines for
aggravated murder or murder which, in the aggregate and to the
extent not suspended by the court, exceeds the amount which the
offender is or will be able to pay by the method and within the
time allowed without undue hardship to the offender or to the
dependents of the offender, or will prevent the offender from

making reparation for the victim's wrongful death.

(D) (1) In addition to any other sanctions imposed for a
violation of section 2903.01 or 2903.02 of the Revised Code, if
the offender used a motor vehicle as the means to commit the
violation, the court shall impose upon the offender a class two
suspension of the offender's driver's license, commercial
driver's license, temporary instruction permit, probationary
license, or nonresident operating privilege as specified in

division (A) (2) of section 4510.02 of the Revised Code.

(2) As used in division (D) of this section, "motor
vehicle" has the same meaning as in section 4501.01 of the

Revised Code.

Sec. 2929.022. (A) If an indictment or count in an
indictment charging a defendant with aggravated murder contains
a specification of the aggravating circumstance of a prior

conviction listed in division (A) (5) of section 2929.04 of the
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Revised Code, the defendant may elect to have the panel of three
judges, if the defendant waives trial by jury, or the trial
judge, if the defendant is tried by jury, determine the
existence of that aggravating circumstance at the sentencing
hearing held pursuant to divisions (C) and (D) of section

2929.03 of the Revised Code.

(1) If the defendant does not elect to have the existence
of the aggravating circumstance determined at the sentencing
hearing, the defendant shall be tried on the charge of
aggravated murder, on the specification of the aggravating
circumstance of a prior conviction listed in division (A) (5) of
section 2929.04 of the Revised Code, and on any other
specifications of an aggravating circumstance listed in division
(A) of section 2929.04 of the Revised Code in a single trial as
in any other criminal case in which a person is charged with

aggravated murder and specifications.

(2) If the defendant does elect to have the existence of
the aggravating circumstance of a prior conviction listed in
division (A) (5) of section 2929.04 of the Revised Code
determined at the sentencing hearing, then, following a verdict
of guilty of the charge of aggravated murder, the panel of three

judges or the trial judge shall:

(a) Hold a sentencing hearing pursuant to division (B) of
this section, unless required to do otherwise under division (A)

(2) (b) of this section;

(b) If the offender raises the matter of age at trial
pursuant to section 2929.023 of the Revised Code and is not
found at trial to have been eighteen years of age or older at

the time of the commission of the offense or raises the matter

of the offender's serious mental illness at the time of the
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alleged commission of the offense pursuant to section 2929.025

of the Revised Code and is found under that section to be

ineligible for a sentence of death due to serious mental

illness, conduct a hearing to determine if the specification of
the aggravating circumstance of a prior conviction listed in
division (A) (5) of section 2929.04 of the Revised Code is proven
beyond a reasonable doubt. After conducting the hearing, the

panel or judge shall proceed as follows:

(i) If that aggravating circumstance is proven beyond a
reasonable doubt or if the defendant at trial was convicted of
any other specification of an aggravating circumstance, the
panel or judge shall impose sentence according to division (E)

of section 2929.03 of the Revised Code.

(ii) If that aggravating circumstance is not proven beyond
a reasonable doubt and the defendant at trial was not convicted
of any other specification of an aggravating circumstance,
except as otherwise provided in this division, the panel or
judge shall impose sentence of life imprisonment with parole
eligibility after serving twenty years of imprisonment on the
offender. If that aggravating circumstance is not proven beyond
a reasonable doubt, the defendant at trial was not convicted of
any other specification of an aggravating circumstance, the
victim of the aggravated murder was less than thirteen years of
age, and the offender also is convicted of or pleads guilty to a
sexual motivation specification that was included in the
indictment, count in the indictment, or information charging the
offense, the panel or judge shall sentence the offender pursuant
to division (B) (3) of section 2971.03 of the Revised Code to an
indefinite term consisting of a minimum term of thirty years and

a maximum term of life imprisonment.
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(B) At the sentencing hearing, the panel of judges, if the
defendant was tried by a panel of three judges, or the trial
judge, if the defendant was tried by jury, shall, when required
pursuant to division (A) (2) of this section, first determine if
the specification of the aggravating circumstance of a prior
conviction listed in division (A) (5) of section 2929.04 of the
Revised Code is proven beyond a reasonable doubt. If the panel
of judges or the trial judge determines that the specification
of the aggravating circumstance of a prior conviction listed in
division (A) (5) of section 2929.04 of the Revised Code 1is proven
beyond a reasonable doubt or if they do not determine that the
specification is proven beyond a reasonable doubt but the
defendant at trial was convicted of a specification of any other
aggravating circumstance listed in division (A) of section
2929.04 of the Revised Code, the panel of judges or the trial
judge and trial jury shall impose sentence on the offender
pursuant to division (D) of section 2929.03 and section 2929.04
of the Revised Code. If the panel of judges or the trial judge
does not determine that the specification of the aggravating
circumstance of a prior conviction listed in division (A) (5) of
section 2929.04 of the Revised Code is proven beyond a
reasonable doubt and the defendant at trial was not convicted of
any other specification of an aggravating circumstance listed in
division (A) of section 2929.04 of the Revised Code, the panel
of judges or the trial judge shall terminate the sentencing

hearing and impose sentence on the offender as follows:

(1) Subject to division (B) (2) of this section, the panel
or judge shall impose a sentence of life imprisonment with
parole eligibility after serving twenty years of imprisonment on

the offender.

(2) If the victim of the aggravated murder was less than
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thirteen years of age and the offender also is convicted of or
pleads guilty to a sexual motivation specification that was
included in the indictment, count in the indictment, or
information charging the offense, the panel or judge shall
sentence the offender pursuant to division (B) (3) of section
2971.03 of the Revised Code to an indefinite term consisting of
a minimum term of thirty years and a maximum term of life

imprisonment.

Sec. 2929.024. F¥—(A) In a case described in division (B)

of this section, if the court determines that £hedefendant—3s

indigent—and—+that—investigation services, experts, or other

services are reasonably necessary for the proper representation

of a defendant charged with aggravated murder at trial or at the
sentencing hearing, the court shall authorize the defendant's
counsel to obtain the necessary services for the defendant, and
shall order that payment of the fees and expenses for the
necessary services be made in the same manner that payment for
appointed counsel is made pursuant to Chapter 120. of the
Revised Code. If the court determines that the necessary
services had to be obtained prior to court authorization for
payment of the fees and expenses for the necessary services, the
court may, after the services have been obtained, authorize the
defendant's counsel to obtain the necessary services and order
that payment of the fees and expenses for the necessary services

be made as provided in this section.

(B) Division (A) of this section applies in a case in

which either of the following apply:

(1) The court determines that the defendant is indigent.

(2) The defendant is described in division (C) of section

2929.025 of the Revised Code and raises the matter of the
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defendant's serious mental illness at the time of the alleged

commission of the aggravated murder as described in that

division.

Sec. 2929.025. (A) As used in this section:

(1) A person has a "serious mental illness" if both of the

following apply with respect to the person, subject to division

(A) (2) of this section:

(a) The person has been diagnosed as described in division

(B) of this section with one or more of the following

conditions:

(1) Schizophrenia;

(1i) Schizoaffective disorder;

(1ii) Bipolar disorder;

(iv) Major depressive disorder;

(v) Delusional disorder.

(b) At the time of the alleged aggravated murder with

which the person is charged, the condition or conditions

described in division (A) (1) (a) of this section with which the

person has been diagnosed, while not meeting the standard to be

found not guilty by reason of insanity as defined in section

2901.01 of the Revised Code or the standard to be found

incompetent to stand trial as described in division (G) of

section 2945.37 of the Revised Code, nevertheless significantly

impaired the person's capacity to do one or more of the

following:

(i) Exercise rational judgment in relation to the person's

conduct;
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(ii) Conform the person's conduct to the reguirements of

law;

(1ii) Appreciate the nature, consequences, or wrongfulness

of the person's conduct.

(2) A disorder manifested primarily by repeated criminal

conduct or attributable solely to the acute effects of voluntary

use of alcohol or any other drug of abuse does not, standing

alone, constitute a "serious mental illness" for purposes of

division (A) (1) of this section.

(3) "Examiner" means a person who makes an evaluation

ordered under division (F) (1) of this section.

(4) "Prosecutor" means a prosecuting attorney who has

authority to prosecute a charge of aggravated murder that is

before the court.

(B) The diagnosis of a person with a condition or

conditions described in division (A) (1) (a) of this section may

be made at any time prior to, on, or after the day of the

alleged aggravated murder with which the person is charged or

the day on which the person pursuant to division (C) of this

section raises the matter of the person's serious mental illness

at the time of the alleged commission of that aggravated murder.

Diagnosis of the condition or conditions after the date of the

alleged aggravated murder with which the person is charged does

not preclude the person from presenting evidence that the person

had a serious mental illness at the time of the alleged

commission of that offense or, in the circumstances described in

division (C) of this section, from having the benefit of the

rebuttable presumption described in that diwvision.

(C) A person charged with aggravated murder and one or
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more specifications of an aggravating circumstance listed in

division (A) of section 2929.04 of the Revised Code may, before

trial, raise the matter of the person's serious mental illness

at the time of the alleged commission of the offense. If a

person raises the matter of the person's serious mental illness

at the time of the alleged commission of the offense, the court

shall order an evaluation of the person in accordance with

division (F) of this section and shall hold a pretrial hearing

on the matter. The person who raises the matter may present

evidence that the person had a serious mental illness at the

time of the alleged commission of the offense, and the person

has the burden of raising that matter and of going forward with

the evidence relating to the diagnosis described in division (A)

(1) (a) of this section and the impairment described in division

(A) (1) (b) of this section. If the person submits prima facie

evidence that the person has been diagnosed with a condition

described in division (A) (1) (a) of this section, it shall be

rebuttably presumed that the condition significantly impaired

the person's capacity at the time of the alleged offense in a

manner described in division (A) (1) (b) (i), (4i), or (iii) of

this section.

(D) If a person described in division (C) of this section

raises the matter of the person's serious mental illness at the

time of the alleged commission of the aggravated murder and

submits prima facie evidence as described in that division that

the person has been diagnosed with a condition described in

division (A) (1) (a) of this section, the prosecution shall have

an _opportunity to present evidence to contest the diagnosis, to

rebut the presumption that the condition, if present,

significantly impaired the person's capacity at the time of the

alleged commission of the offense in a manner described in
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division (A) (1) (b) (i), (dii), or (iii) of this section, or to

both contest the diagnosis and rebut the presumption. The

prosecution has the burden of proving, by a preponderance of the

evidence, that the diagnosis of the condition described in

division (A) (1) (a) of this section that was made of the person

was erroneous or that the condition, if present, did not

significantly impair the person's capacity at the time of the

alleged offense in a manner described in division (A) (1) (b) (i),

(ii), or (iii) of this section.

(E) If a person described in division (B) of this section

raises the matter of the person's serious mental illness at the

time of the alleged commission of the aggravated murder and

submits prima facie evidence as described in that division that

the person has been diagnosed with a condition described in

division (A) (1) (a) of this section, one of the following

applies:

(1) Unless the court at the pretrial hearing finds that

the prosecution has proved, by a preponderance of the evidence,

that the diagnosis of the condition described in division (A) (1)

(a) of this section that was made of the person was erroneous oOr

that the condition, if present, did not significantly impair the

person's capacity at the time of the alleged offense in a manner

described in division (A) (1) (b) (i), (dii), or (iii) of this

section, the court shall issue a finding that the person is

ineligible for a sentence of death due to serious mental

illness.

(2) If the court at the pretrial hearing finds that the

prosecution has proved, by a preponderance of the evidence, that

the diagnosis of the condition described in division (A) (1) (a)

of this section that was made of the person was erroneous oOr
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that the condition, if present, did not significantly impair the

person's capacity at the time of the alleged offense in a manner

described in division (A) (1) (b) (i), (ii), or (iii) of this

section, one of the following applies:

(a) TIf the aggravated murder charge is not to be tried by

a jury, the court shall issue a finding that the person is not

ineligible for a sentence of death due to serious mental

illness.

(b) If the aggravated murder charge is to be tried by a

jury, the person may request that the matter of serious mental

illness be submitted to the jury at trial. If the person does

not request that the matter be submitted to the jury, the court

shall issue a finding that the person is not ineligible for a

sentence of death due to serious mental illness. If the person

requests that the matter be submitted to the jury, the matter

shall be submitted to the jury at trial, the procedures and

rules regarding introduction of evidence and burden of proof at

the pretrial hearing that are set forth in divisions (C) and (D)

of this section apply, and the person in accordance with those

procedures and rules may introduce all relevant evidence,

including, but not limited to evidence that is different from or

in addition to the evidence introduced at the pretrial hearing.

If the matter is submitted to the jury at trial, one of the

following applies:

(1) Unless the jury finds that the prosecution has proved,

by a preponderance of the evidence, that the diagnosis of the

condition described in division (A) (1) (a) of this section that

was made of the person was erroneous or that the condition, if

present, did not significantly impair the person's capacity at

the time of the alleged offense in a manner described in
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division (A) (1) (b) (i), (dii), or (4iii) of this section, the court

shall issue a finding that the person is ineligible for a

sentence of death due to serious mental illness.

(1ii) If the jury finds that the prosecution has proved, by

a _preponderance of the evidence, that the diagnosis of the

condition described in division (A) (1) (a) of this section that

was made of the person was erroneous or that the condition, if

present, did not significantly impair the person's capacity at

the time of the alleged offense in a manner described in

division (A) (1) (b) (i), (ii), or (4iii) of this section, the court

shall issue a finding that the person is not ineligible for a

sentence of death due to serious mental illness.

(F) (1) If a person described in division (C) of this

section raises the matter of the person's serious mental illness

at the time of the alleged commission of the aggravated murder

as described in that division, the court shall order an

evaluation of the person. Section 2929.024 of the Revised Code

applies with respect to an evaluation ordered under this

division.

(2) No statement that a person makes in an evaluation

ordered under division (F) (1) of this section or in a pretrial

hearing or a proceeding before a jury under divisions (C) to (E)

of this section relating to the person's serious mental illness

at the time of the alleged commission of the aggravated murder

with which the person is charged shall be used against the

person on the issue of gquilt in any criminal action or

proceeding, but, in a criminal action or proceeding, the

prosecutor or defense counsel may call as a witness any examiner

who evaluated the person or prepared a report pursuant to a

referral under this section. Neither the appointment nor the
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testimony of an examiner in an evaluation ordered under division

(F) (1) of this section precludes the prosecutor or defense

counsel from calling other witnesses or presenting other

evidence on the issue of the person's serious mental illness at

the time of the alleged commission of the aggravated murder or

on competency or insanity issues.

(G) A person's pleading of not guilty by reason of

insanity or incompetence to stand trial, or a finding after such

a plea that the person is not insane or that the person is

competent to stand trial, does not preclude the person from

raising the matter of the person's serious mental illness at the

time of the alleged commission of the offense pursuant to

division (C) of this section and, if a person so raises that

matter, does not limit or affect any of the procedures described

in this section or the authority of a court to make any finding

described in this section.

Sec. 2929.03. (A) If the indictment or count in the
indictment charging aggravated murder does not contain one or
more specifications of aggravating circumstances listed in
division (A) of section 2929.04 of the Revised Code, then,
following a verdict of guilty of the charge of aggravated
murder, the trial court shall impose sentence on the offender as

follows:

(1) Except as provided in division (A) (2) of this section,
the trial court shall impose one of the following sentences on

the offender:
(a) Life imprisonment without parole;

(b) Subject to division (A) (1) (e) of this section, life

imprisonment with parole eligibility after serving twenty years
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of imprisonment;

(c) Subject to division (A) (1) (e) of this section, life
imprisonment with parole eligibility after serving twenty-five

full years of imprisonment;

(d) Subject to division (A) (1) (e) of this section, life
imprisonment with parole eligibility after serving thirty full

years of imprisonment;

(e) If the victim of the aggravated murder was less than
thirteen years of age, the offender also is convicted of or
pleads guilty to a sexual motivation specification that was
included in the indictment, count in the indictment, or
information charging the offense, and the trial court does not
impose a sentence of life imprisonment without parole on the
offender pursuant to division (A) (1) (a) of this section, the
trial court shall sentence the offender pursuant to division (B)
(3) of section 2971.03 of the Revised Code to an indefinite term
consisting of a minimum term of thirty years and a maximum term
of life imprisonment that shall be served pursuant to that

section.

(2) If the offender also is convicted of or pleads guilty
to a sexual motivation specification and a sexually violent
predator specification that are included in the indictment,
count in the indictment, or information that charged the
aggravated murder, the trial court shall impose upon the
offender a sentence of life imprisonment without parole that

shall be served pursuant to section 2971.03 of the Revised Code.

(B) If the indictment or count in the indictment charging
aggravated murder contains one or more specifications of

aggravating circumstances listed in division (A) of section
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2929.04 of the Revised Code, the verdict shall separately state
whether—all of the following:

(1) Whether the accused is found guilty or not guilty of

the principal charge—amd—if—;

(2) If guilty of the principal charge, whether the
offender was eighteen years of age or older at the time of the
commission of the offensey if the matter of age was raised by
the offender pursuant to section 2929.023 of the Revised Code;—
afpd—vhether—;

(3) If guilty of the principal charge, whether the

offender was found under section 2929.025 of the Revised Code to

be ineligible for a sentence of death due to serious mental

illness if the matter of serious mental illness at the time of

the commission of the offense was raised by the offender

pursuant to that section;

(4) If guilty of the principal charge, whether the

offender is guilty or not guilty of each specification. Fhe—

The jury shall be instructed on its duties in this regard.
The instruction to the jury shall include an instruction that a
specification shall be proved beyond a reasonable doubt in order
to support a guilty verdict on the specification, but the
instruction shall not mention the penalty that may be the
consequence of a guilty or not guilty verdict on any charge or

specification.

(C) (1) If the indictment or count in the indictment
charging aggravated murder contains one or more specifications
of aggravating circumstances listed in division (A) of section
2929.04 of the Revised Code, then, following a verdict of guilty

of the charge but not guilty of each of the specifications, and
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regardless of whether the offender raised the matter of age

pursuant to section 2929.023 of the Revised Code_or the matter

of serious mental illness at the time of the commission of the

offense pursuant to section 2929.025 of the Revised Code, the

trial court shall impose sentence on the offender as follows:

(a) Except as provided in division (C) (1) (b) of this
section, the trial court shall impose one of the following

sentences on the offender:

(1) Life imprisonment without parole;

(ii) Subject to division (C) (1) (a) (v) of this section,
life imprisonment with parole eligibility after serving twenty

years of imprisonment;

(iii) Subject to division (C) (1) (a) (v) of this section,
life imprisonment with parole eligibility after serving twenty-

five full years of imprisonment;

(iv) Subject to division (C) (1) (a) (v) of this section,
life imprisonment with parole eligibility after serving thirty

full years of imprisonment;

(v) If the victim of the aggravated murder was less than
thirteen years of age, the offender also is convicted of or
pleads guilty to a sexual motivation specification that was
included in the indictment, count in the indictment, or
information charging the offense, and the trial court does not
impose a sentence of life imprisonment without parole on the
offender pursuant to division (C) (1) (a) (1) of this section, the
trial court shall sentence the offender pursuant to division (B)
(3) of section 2971.03 of the Revised Code to an indefinite term
consisting of a minimum term of thirty years and a maximum term

of life imprisonment.
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(b) If the offender also is convicted of or pleads guilty
to a sexual motivation specification and a sexually violent
predator specification that are included in the indictment,
count in the indictment, or information that charged the
aggravated murder, the trial court shall impose upon the
offender a sentence of life imprisonment without parole that

shall be served pursuant to section 2971.03 of the Revised Code.

(2) (a) If the indictment or count in the indictment
contains one or more specifications of aggravating circumstances
listed in division (A) of section 2929.04 of the Revised Code
and if the offender is found guilty of both the charge and one
or more of the specifications, the penalty to be imposed on the

offender shall be one of the following:

(1) Except as provided in division (C) (2) (a) (ii) or (iii),

and subject to division (D) (1) and (E), of this section, the

penalty to be imposed on the offender shall be death, life
imprisonment without parole, life imprisonment with parole
eligibility after serving twenty-five full years of
imprisonment, or life imprisonment with parole eligibility after

serving thirty full years of imprisonment.

(ii) Except as provided in division (C) (2) (a) (iii) of this
section, if the victim of the aggravated murder was less than
thirteen years of age, the offender also is convicted of or
pleads guilty to a sexual motivation specification that was
included in the indictment, count in the indictment, or
information charging the offense, and the trial court does not
impose a sentence of death or life imprisonment without parole
on the offender pursuant to division (C) (2) (a) (i) of this
section, the penalty to be imposed on the offender shall be an

indefinite term consisting of a minimum term of thirty years and
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a maximum term of life imprisonment that shall be imposed
pursuant to division (B) (3) of section 2971.03 of the Revised

Code and served pursuant to that section.

(iii) If the offender also is convicted of or pleads
guilty to a sexual motivation specification and a sexually
violent predator specification that are included in the
indictment, count in the indictment, or information that charged
the aggravated murder, the penalty to be imposed on the offender
shall be death or life imprisonment without parole that shall be

served pursuant to section 2971.03 of the Revised Code.

(b) A penalty imposed pursuant to division (C) (2) (a) (1),
(ii), or (iii) of this section shall be determined pursuant to
divisions (D) and (E) of this section and shall be determined by

one of the following:

(1) By the panel of three judges that tried the offender

upon the offender's waiver of the right to trial by jury;

(ii) By the trial jury and the trial judge, if the

offender was tried by jury.

(D) (1) Death may not be imposed as a penalty for
aggravated murder if the offender raised the matter of age at
trial pursuant to section 2929.023 of the Revised Code and was
not found at trial to have been eighteen years of age or older

at the time of the commission of the offense or raised the

matter of the offender's serious mental illness at the time of

the commission of the offense pursuant to section 2929.025 of

the Revised Code and was found under that section to be

ineligible for a sentence of death due to serious mental

illness. When death may be imposed as a penalty for aggravated

murder, the court shall proceed under this division. When death
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may be imposed as a penalty, the court, upon the request of the
defendant, shall require a pre-sentence investigation to be made
and, upon the request of the defendant, shall require a mental
examination to be made, and shall require reports of the
investigation and of any mental examination submitted to the
court, pursuant to section 2947.06 of the Revised Code. No
statement made or information provided by a defendant in a
mental examination or proceeding conducted pursuant to this
division shall be disclosed to any person, except as provided in
this division, or be used in evidence against the defendant on
the issue of guilt in any retrial. A pre-sentence investigation
or mental examination shall not be made except upon request of
the defendant. Copies of any reports prepared under this
division shall be furnished to the court, to the trial jury if
the offender was tried by a jury, to the prosecutor, and to the
offender or the offender's counsel for use under this division.
The court, and the trial jury if the offender was tried by a
jury, shall consider any report prepared pursuant to this
division and furnished to it and any evidence raised at trial
that is relevant to the aggravating circumstances the offender
was found guilty of committing or to any factors in mitigation
of the imposition of the sentence of death, shall hear testimony
and other evidence that is relevant to the nature and
circumstances of the aggravating circumstances the offender was
found guilty of committing, the mitigating factors set forth in
division (B) of section 2929.04 of the Revised Code, and any
other factors in mitigation of the imposition of the sentence of
death, and shall hear the statement, if any, of the offender,
and the arguments, if any, of counsel for the defense and
prosecution, that are relevant to the penalty that should be
imposed on the offender. The defendant shall be given great

latitude in the presentation of evidence of the mitigating
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factors set forth in division (B) of section 2929.04 of the
Revised Code and of any other factors in mitigation of the
imposition of the sentence of death. If the offender chooses to
make a statement, the offender is subject to cross-examination
only if the offender consents to make the statement under oath

or affirmation.

The defendant shall have the burden of going forward with
the evidence of any factors in mitigation of the imposition of
the sentence of death. The prosecution shall have the burden of
proving, by proof beyond a reasonable doubt, that the
aggravating circumstances the defendant was found guilty of
committing are sufficient to outweigh the factors in mitigation

of the imposition of the sentence of death.

(2) Upon consideration of the relevant evidence raised at
trial, the testimony, other evidence, statement of the offender,
arguments of counsel, and, if applicable, the reports submitted
pursuant to division (D) (1) of this section, the trial jury, if
the offender was tried by a jury, shall determine whether the
aggravating circumstances the offender was found guilty of
committing are sufficient to outweigh the mitigating factors
present in the case. If the trial jury unanimously finds, by
proof beyond a reasonable doubt, that the aggravating
circumstances the offender was found guilty of committing
outweigh the mitigating factors, the trial jury shall recommend
to the court that the sentence of death be imposed on the
offender. Absent such a finding, the Jjury shall recommend that

the offender be sentenced to one of the following:

(a) Except as provided in division (D) (2) (b) or (c) of
this section, to life imprisonment without parole, life

imprisonment with parole eligibility after serving twenty-five
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full years of imprisonment, or life imprisonment with parole

eligibility after serving thirty full years of imprisonment;

(b) Except as provided in division (D) (2) (c) of this
section, if the victim of the aggravated murder was less than
thirteen years of age, the offender also is convicted of or
pleads guilty to a sexual motivation specification that was
included in the indictment, count in the indictment, or
information charging the offense, and the jury does not
recommend a sentence of life imprisonment without parole
pursuant to division (D) (2) (a) of this section, to an indefinite
term consisting of a minimum term of thirty years and a maximum
term of life imprisonment to be imposed pursuant to division (B)
(3) of section 2971.03 of the Revised Code and served pursuant

to that section.

(c) If the offender also is convicted of or pleads guilty
to a sexual motivation specification and a sexually violent
predator specification that are included in the indictment,
count in the indictment, or information that charged the

aggravated murder, to life imprisonment without parole.

If the trial jury recommends that the offender be

sentenced to life imprisonment without parole, life imprisonment
with parole eligibility after serving twenty-five full years of
imprisonment, life imprisonment with parole eligibility after
serving thirty full years of imprisonment, or an indefinite term
consisting of a minimum term of thirty years and a maximum term
of life imprisonment to be imposed pursuant to division (B) (3)
of section 2971.03 of the Revised Code, the court shall impose
the sentence recommended by the jury upon the offender. If the
sentence is an indefinite term consisting of a minimum term of

thirty years and a maximum term of life imprisonment imposed as
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described in division (D) (2) (b) of this section or a sentence of
life imprisonment without parole imposed under division (D) (2)
(c) of this section, the sentence shall be served pursuant to
section 2971.03 of the Revised Code. If the trial jury
recommends that the sentence of death be imposed upon the
offender, the court shall proceed to impose sentence pursuant to

division (D) (3) of this section.

(3) Upon consideration of the relevant evidence raised at
trial, the testimony, other evidence, statement of the offender,
arguments of counsel, and, if applicable, the reports submitted
to the court pursuant to division (D) (1) of this section, if,
after receiving pursuant to division (D) (2) of this section the
trial jury's recommendation that the sentence of death be
imposed, the court finds, by proof beyond a reasonable doubt, or
if the panel of three judges unanimously finds, by proof beyond
a reasonable doubt, that the aggravating circumstances the
offender was found guilty of committing outweigh the mitigating
factors, it shall impose sentence of death on the offender.
Absent such a finding by the court or panel, the court or the
panel shall impose one of the following sentences on the

offender:

(a) Except as provided in division (D) (3) (b) of this

section, one of the following:
(i) Life imprisonment without parole;

(ii) Subject to division (D) (3) (a) (iv) of this section,
life imprisonment with parole eligibility after serving twenty-

five full years of imprisonment;

(iii) Subject to division (D) (3) (a) (iv) of this section,

life imprisonment with parole eligibility after serving thirty
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full years of imprisonment;

(iv) If the victim of the aggravated murder was less than
thirteen years of age, the offender also is convicted of or
pleads guilty to a sexual motivation specification that was
included in the indictment, count in the indictment, or
information charging the offense, and the trial court does not
impose a sentence of life imprisonment without parole on the
offender pursuant to division (D) (3) (a) (i) of this section, the
court or panel shall sentence the offender pursuant to division
(B) (3) of section 2971.03 of the Revised Code to an indefinite
term consisting of a minimum term of thirty years and a maximum

term of life imprisonment.

(b) If the offender also is convicted of or pleads guilty
to a sexual motivation specification and a sexually violent
predator specification that are included in the indictment,
count in the indictment, or information that charged the
aggravated murder, life imprisonment without parole that shall

be served pursuant to section 2971.03 of the Revised Code.

(E) If the offender raised—the matter of age—at—+trial
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£ +the RewvisedCeodes—was convicted
of aggravated murder and one or more specifications of an
aggravating circumstance listed in division (A) of section

2929.04 of the Revised Code, and if the offender either raised

the matter of age at trial pursuant to section 2929.023 of the

Revised Code and was not found at trial to have been eighteen

years of age or older at the time of the commission of the

offense or raised the matter of the offender's serious mental

illness at the time of the commission of the offense pursuant to

section 2929.025 of the Revised Code and was found under that

section to be ineligible for a sentence of death due to serious
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mental illness, the court or the panel of three judges shall not

impose a sentence of death on the offender. Instead, the court
or panel shall impose one of the following sentences on the

offender:

(1) Except as provided in division (E) (2) of this section,

one of the following:
(a) Life imprisonment without parole;

(b) Subject to division (E)42+(1) (d) of this section, life
imprisonment with parole eligibility after serving twenty-five

full years of imprisonment;

(c) Subject to division (E)42+(1) (d) of this section, life
imprisonment with parole eligibility after serving thirty full

years of imprisonment;

(d) If the victim of the aggravated murder was less than
thirteen years of age, the offender also is convicted of or
pleads guilty to a sexual motivation specification that was
included in the indictment, count in the indictment, or
information charging the offense, and the trial court does not
impose a sentence of life imprisonment without parole on the
offender pursuant to division (E)+42+(1) (a) of this section, the
court or panel shall sentence the offender pursuant to division
(B) (3) of section 2971.03 of the Revised Code to an indefinite
term consisting of a minimum term of thirty years and a maximum

term of life imprisonment.

(2) If the offender also is convicted of or pleads guilty
to a sexual motivation specification and a sexually violent
predator specification that are included in the indictment,
count in the indictment, or information that charged the

aggravated murder, life imprisonment without parole that shall
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be served pursuant to section 2971.03 of the Revised Code.

(F) The court or the panel of three judges, when it
imposes sentence of death, shall state in a separate opinion its
specific findings as to the existence of any of the mitigating
factors set forth in division (B) of section 2929.04 of the
Revised Code, the existence of any other mitigating factors, the
aggravating circumstances the offender was found guilty of
committing, and the reasons why the aggravating circumstances
the offender was found guilty of committing were sufficient to
outweigh the mitigating factors. The court or panel, when it
imposes life imprisonment or an indefinite term consisting of a
minimum term of thirty years and a maximum term of life
imprisonment under division (D) of this section, shall state in
a separate opinion its specific findings of which of the
mitigating factors set forth in division (B) of section 2929.04
of the Revised Code it found to exist, what other mitigating
factors it found to exist, what aggravating circumstances the
offender was found guilty of committing, and why it could not
find that these aggravating circumstances were sufficient to
outweigh the mitigating factors. For cases in which a sentence
of death is imposed for an offense committed before January 1,
1995, the court or panel shall file the opinion required to be
prepared by this division with the clerk of the appropriate
court of appeals and with the clerk of the supreme court within
fifteen days after the court or panel imposes sentence. For
cases in which a sentence of death is imposed for an offense
committed on or after January 1, 1995, the court or panel shall
file the opinion required to be prepared by this division with
the clerk of the supreme court within fifteen days after the
court or panel imposes sentence. The Jjudgment in a case in which

a sentencing hearing is held pursuant to this section is not
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final until the opinion is filed.

(G) (1) Whenever the court or a panel of three judges
imposes a sentence of death for an offense committed before
January 1, 1995, the clerk of the court in which the judgment is
rendered shall deliver the entire record in the case to the

appellate court.

(2) Whenever the court or a panel of three judges imposes
a sentence of death for an offense committed on or after January
1, 1995, the clerk of the court in which the judgment is
rendered shall deliver the entire record in the case to the

Ssupreme court.

Sec. 2929.04. (A) Imposition of the death penalty for
aggravated murder is precluded unless one or more of the
following is specified in the indictment or count in the
indictment pursuant to section 2941.14 of the Revised Code and

proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

(1) The offense was the assassination of the president of
the United States or a person in line of succession to the
presidency, the governor or lieutenant governor of this state,
the president-elect or vice president-elect of the United
States, the governor-elect or lieutenant governor-elect of this
state, or a candidate for any of the offices described in this
division. For purposes of this division, a person is a candidate
if the person has been nominated for election according to law,
if the person has filed a petition or petitions according to law
to have the person's name placed on the ballot in a primary or
general election, or if the person campaigns as a write-in

candidate in a primary or general election.

(2) The offense was committed for hire.
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(3) The offense was committed for the purpose of escaping
detection, apprehension, trial, or punishment for another

offense committed by the offender.

(4) The offense was committed while the offender was under
detention or while the offender was at large after having broken
detention. As used in division (A) (4) of this section,
"detention" has the same meaning as in section 2921.01 of the
Revised Code, except that detention does not include
hospitalization, institutionalization, or confinement in a
mental health facility or mental retardation and developmentally
disabled facility unless at the time of the commission of the

offense either of the following circumstances apply:

(a) The offender was in the facility as a result of being

charged with a violation of a section of the Revised Code.

(b) The offender was under detention as a result of being
convicted of or pleading guilty to a violation of a section of

the Revised Code.

(5) Prior to the offense at bar, the offender was
convicted of an offense an essential element of which was the
purposeful killing of or attempt to kill another, or the offense
at bar was part of a course of conduct involving the purposeful
killing of or attempt to kill two or more persons by the

offender.

(6) The victim of the offense was a law enforcement
officer, as defined in section 2911.01 of the Revised Code, whom
the offender had reasonable cause to know or knew to be a law
enforcement officer as so defined, and either the victim, at the
time of the commission of the offense, was engaged in the

victim's duties, or it was the offender's specific purpose to
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kill a law enforcement officer as so defined.

(7) The offense was committed while the offender was
committing, attempting to commit, or fleeing immediately after
committing or attempting to commit kidnapping, rape, aggravated
arson, aggravated robbery, or aggravated burglary, and either
the offender was the principal offender in the commission of the
aggravated murder or, i1f not the principal offender, committed

the aggravated murder with prior calculation and design.

(8) The wvictim of the aggravated murder was a witness to
an offense who was purposely killed to prevent the victim's
testimony in any criminal proceeding and the aggravated murder
was not committed during the commission, attempted commission,
or flight immediately after the commission or attempted
commission of the offense to which the victim was a witness, or
the victim of the aggravated murder was a witness to an offense
and was purposely killed in retaliation for the victim's

testimony in any criminal proceeding.

(9) The offender, in the commission of the offense,
purposefully caused the death of another who was under thirteen
years of age at the time of the commission of the offense, and
either the offender was the principal offender in the commission
of the offense or, if not the principal offender, committed the

offense with prior calculation and design.

(10) The offense was committed while the offender was
committing, attempting to commit, or fleeing immediately after

committing or attempting to commit terrorism.

(B) If one or more of the aggravating circumstances listed
in division (A) of this section is specified in the indictment

or count in the indictment and proved beyond a reasonable doubt,
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aad—1f the offender did not raise the matter of age pursuant to 849
section 2929.023 of the Revised Code or +f—the offender+ after 850
raising £ke—that matter ef—age;—was found at trial to have been 851
eighteen years of age or older at the time of the commission of 852
the offense, and if the offender did not raise the matter of the 853
offender's serious mental illness at the time of the commission 854
of the offense pursuant to section 2929.025 of the Revised Code 855
or the offender after raising that matter was found by the court 856
to not be ineligible for a sentence of death, the court, trial 857
jury, or panel of three judges shall consider, and weigh against 858
the aggravating circumstances proved beyond a reasonable doubt, 859
the nature and circumstances of the offense, the history, 860
character, and background of the offender, and all of the 861
following factors: 862

(1) Whether the victim of the offense induced or 863
facilitated it; 864

(2) Whether it is unlikely that the offense would have 865
been committed, but for the fact that the offender was under 866
duress, coercion, or strong provocation; 867

(3) Whether, at the time of committing the offense, the 868
offender, because of a mental disease or defect, lacked 869
substantial capacity to appreciate the criminality of the 870
offender's conduct or to conform the offender's conduct to the 871
requirements of the law; 872

(4) The youth of the offender; 873

(5) The offender's lack of a significant history of prior 874
criminal convictions and delinquency adjudications; 875

(6) If the offender was a participant in the offense but 876

not the principal offender, the degree of the offender's 877
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participation in the offense and the degree of the offender's

participation in the acts that led to the death of the victim;

(7) Any other factors that are relevant to the issue of

whether the offender should be sentenced to death.

(C) The defendant shall be given great latitude in the
presentation of evidence of the factors listed in division (B)
of this section and of any other factors in mitigation of the

imposition of the sentence of death.

The existence of any of the mitigating factors listed in
division (B) of this section does not preclude the imposition of
a sentence of death on the offender but shall be weighed
pursuant to divisions (D) (2) and (3) of section 2929.03 of the
Revised Code by the trial court, trial jury, or the panel of
three judges against the aggravating circumstances the offender

was found guilty of committing.

Sec. 2929.06. (A) (1) If a sentence of death imposed upon

an offender is set aside, nullified, e¥—vacated—beeause—the—, oOr

voided for any of the following reasons, the trial court that

sentenced the offender shall conduct a hearing to resentence the

offender in accordance with division (A) (2) of this section:

(a) The court of appeals, in a case in which a sentence of
death was imposed for an offense committed before January 1,
1995, or the supreme court, in eases—a case in which the supreme
court reviews the sentence upon appeal, could not affirm the

sentence of death under the standards imposed by section 2929.05

of the Revised Code—3s—set—sasider—nuttified—er acatedfor

£he;

(b) The sole reason that the statutory procedure for

imposing the sentence of death that is set forth in sections
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2929.03 and 2929.04 of the Revised Code is unconstitutionals;

(c) The sentence of death is set aside, nullified, or

vacated pursuant to division (C) of section 2929.05 of the

: IS aat KN I T B RO v < PGS N e .
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(d) A court has determined that the offender is mentally
retarded under standards set forth in decisions of the supreme

court of this state or the United States supreme courty—the—

(e) The sentence of death is voided by a court pursuant to

division (G) of section 2953.21 of the Revised Code.

(2) At £#khe—a resentencing hearing_conducted under division

(A) (1) of this section, the court shall impose upon the offender

a sentence of life imprisonment or an indefinite term consisting
of a minimum term of thirty years and a maximum term of life
imprisonment that is determined as specified in this division.
If division (D) of section 2929.03 of the Revised Code, at the
time the offender committed the aggravated murder for which the
sentence of death was imposed, required the imposition when a
sentence of death was not imposed of a sentence of life
imprisonment without parole or a sentence of an indefinite term
consisting of a minimum term of thirty years and a maximum term
of life imprisonment to be imposed pursuant to division (A) or
(B) (3) of section 2971.03 of the Revised Code and served
pursuant to that section, the court shall impose the sentence so
required. In all other cases, the sentences of life imprisonment
that are available at the hearing, and from which the court
shall impose sentence, shall be the same sentences of life
imprisonment that were available under division (D) of section

2929.03 or under section 2909.24 of the Revised Code at the time
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the offender committed the offense for which the sentence of
death was imposed. Nothing in this division regarding the
resentencing of an offender shall affect the operation of

section 2971.03 of the Revised Code.

(B) Whenever any court of this state or any federal court
sets aside, nullifies, or vacates a sentence of death imposed
upon an offender because of error that occurred in the
sentencing phase of the trial and if division (A) of this
section does not apply, the trial court that sentenced the
offender shall conduct a new hearing to resentence the offender.
If the offender was tried by a jury, the trial court shall
impanel a new jury for the hearing. If the offender was tried by
a panel of three judges, that panel or, if necessary, a new
panel of three judges shall conduct the hearing. At the hearing,
the court or panel shall follow the procedure set forth in
division (D) of section 2929.03 of the Revised Code in
determining whether to impose upon the offender a sentence of
death, a sentence of life imprisonment, or an indefinite term
consisting of a minimum term of thirty years and a maximum term
of life imprisonment. If, pursuant to that procedure, the court
or panel determines that it will impose a sentence other than a
sentence of death, the court or panel shall impose upon the
offender one of the sentences of life imprisonment that could
have been imposed at the time the offender committed the offense
for which the sentence of death was imposed, determined as
specified in this division, or an indefinite term consisting of
a minimum term of thirty years and a maximum term of life
imprisonment that is determined as specified in this division.
If division (D) of section 2929.03 of the Revised Code, at the
time the offender committed the aggravated murder for which the

sentence of death was imposed, required the imposition when a
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sentence of death was not imposed of a sentence of life
imprisonment without parole or a sentence of an indefinite term
consisting of a minimum term of thirty years and a maximum term
of life imprisonment to be imposed pursuant to division (A) or
(B) (3) of section 2971.03 of the Revised Code and served
pursuant to that section, the court or panel shall impose the
sentence so required. In all other cases, the sentences of life
imprisonment that are available at the hearing, and from which
the court or panel shall impose sentence, shall be the same
sentences of life imprisonment that were available under
division (D) of section 2929.03 or under section 2909.24 of the
Revised Code at the time the offender committed the offense for

which the sentence of death was imposed.

(C) If a sentence of life imprisonment without parole

imposed upon an offender pursuant to section 2929.021 or 2929.03

of the Revised Code is set aside, nullified, or vacated for the
sole reason that the statutory procedure for imposing the
sentence of life imprisonment without parole that is set forth
in sections 2929.03 and 2929.04 of the Revised Code is
unconstitutional, the trial court that sentenced the offender
shall conduct a hearing to resentence the offender to life
imprisonment with parole eligibility after serving twenty-five
full years of imprisonment or to life imprisonment with parole

eligibility after serving thirty full years of imprisonment.

(D) Nothing in this section limits or restricts the rights
of the state to appeal any order setting aside, nullifying, or
vacating a conviction or sentence of death, when an appeal of

that nature otherwise would be available.

(E) This section, as amended by H.B. 184 of the 125th

general assembly, shall apply to all offenders who have been
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sentenced to death for an aggravated murder that was committed 998
on or after October 19, 1981, or for terrorism that was 999
committed on or after May 15, 2002. This section, as amended by 1000
H.B. 184 of the 125th general assembly, shall apply equally to 1001
all such offenders sentenced to death prior to, on, or after 1002
March 23, 2005, including offenders who, on March 23, 2005, are 1003
challenging their sentence of death and offenders whose sentence 1004
of death has been set aside, nullified, or vacated by any court 1005
of this state or any federal court but who, as of March 23, 1006
2005, have not yet been resentenced. 1007
Sec. 2953.21. (2) (1) (a) A person in any of the following 1008
categories may file a petition in the court that imposed 1009
sentence, stating the grounds for relief relied upon, and asking 1010
the court to vacate or set aside the judgment or sentence or to 1011
grant other appropriate relief: 1012
(i) Any person who has been convicted of a criminal 1013
offense or adjudicated a delinquent child and who claims that 1014
there was such a denial or infringement of the person's rights 1015
as to render the judgment void or voidable under the Ohio 1016
Constitution or the Constitution of the United States—and—arny; 1017
(ii) Any person who has been convicted of a criminal 1018
offense that is a felony and who is an offender for whom DNA 1019
testing that was performed under sections 2953.71 to 2953.81 of 1020
the Revised Code or under former section 2953.82 of the Revised 1021
Code and analyzed in the context of and upon consideration of 1022
all available admissible evidence related to the person's case 1023
as described in division (D) of section 2953.74 of the Revised 1024
Code provided results that establish, by clear and convincing 1025
evidence, actual innocence of that felony offense or, if the 1026

person was sentenced to death, establish, by clear and 1027
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convincing evidence, actual innocence of the aggravating
circumstance or circumstances the person was found guilty of

committing and that is or are the basis of that sentence of

d t}« £-21 o 4 o 3 o = +
calh—May—TtTrre—<a PeTIrcTroh—TH PO SeG—SentTenRtey

. : - tief relied i L sl ]

e e g
other—appropriate—retief;

(1iii) Any person who has been convicted of aggravated

murder and sentenced to death for the offense and who claims

that the person had a serious mental illness at the time of the

commission of the offense and that as a result the court should

render void the sentence of death.

The—(b) A petitioner under division (A) (1) (a) of this

section may file a supporting affidavit and other documentary

evidence in support of the claim for relief.

“)—(c) As used in division (A) (1) (a) of this section—

(i) "Actual innocence" means that, had the results of the

DNA testing conducted under sections 2953.71 to 2953.81 of the
Revised Code or under former section 2953.82 of the Revised Code
been presented at trial, and had those results been analyzed in
the context of and upon consideration of all available
admissible evidence related to the person's case as described in
division (D) of section 2953.74 of the Revised Code, no
reasonable factfinder would have found the petitioner guilty of
the offense of which the petitioner was convicted, or, if the
person was sentenced to death, no reasonable factfinder would
have found the petitioner guilty of the aggravating circumstance
or circumstances the petitioner was found guilty of committing

and that is or are the basis of that sentence of death.
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(ii) "Serious mental illness" has the same meaning as in 1058
section 2929.025 of the Revised Code. 1059
+e)—(d) As used in divisions (A) (1) (a) and 4—(c) of this 1060
section, "former section 2953.82 of the Revised Code" means 1061
section 2953.82 of the Revised Code as it existed prior to July 1062
6, 2010. 1063
(2) (a) Except as otherwise provided in section 2953.23 of 1064

the Revised Code, a petition under division (A) (1)(a) (i) or (4i) 1065
of this section shall be filed no later than three hundred 1066
sixty-five days after the date on which the trial transcript is 1067
filed in the court of appeals in the direct appeal of the 1068
judgment of conviction or adjudication or, if the direct appeal 1069
involves a sentence of death, the date on which the trial 1070
transcript is filed in the supreme court. If no appeal is taken, 1071
except as otherwise provided in section 2953.23 of the Revised 1072
Code, the petition shall be filed no later than three hundred 1073
sixty-five days after the expiration of the time for filing the 1074
appeal. 1075
(b) Except as otherwise provided in section 2953.23 of 1076

the Revised Code, a petition under division (A) (1) (a) (iii) of 1077
this section shall be filed not later than three hundred sixty- 1078
five days after the effective date of this amendment. 1079
(3) In a petition filed under division (A)_ (1) (a) (i) or 1080

(ii) of this section, a person who has been sentenced to death 1081
may ask the court to render void or voidable the judgment with 1082
respect to the conviction of aggravated murder or the 1083
specification of an aggravating circumstance or the sentence of 1084
death. A person who has been sentenced to death who files a 1085
petition under division (A) (1) (a) (iii) of this section may ask 1086

the court to render void the sentence of death and to order the 1087
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resentencing of the person under division (A) of section 2929.06

of the Revised Code.

(4) A petitioner shall state in the original or amended
petition filed under division (A) of this section all grounds
for relief claimed by the petitioner. Except as provided in
section 2953.23 of the Revised Code, any ground for relief that

is not so stated in the petition is waived.

(5) If the petitioner in a petition filed under division

(A)(1)(a) (d) or (di) of this section was convicted of or pleaded

guilty to a felony, the petition may include a claim that the
petitioner was denied the equal protection of the laws in
violation of the Ohio Constitution or the United States
Constitution because the sentence imposed upon the petitioner
for the felony was part of a consistent pattern of disparity in
sentencing by the judge who imposed the sentence, with regard to
the petitioner's race, gender, ethnic background, or religion.
If the supreme court adopts a rule requiring a court of common
pleas to maintain information with regard to an offender's race,
gender, ethnic background, or religion, the supporting evidence
for the petition shall include, but shall not be limited to, a
copy of that type of information relative to the petitioner's
sentence and copies of that type of information relative to

sentences that the same judge imposed upon other persons.

(B) The clerk of the court in which the petition is filed
shall docket the petition and bring it promptly to the attention
of the court. The clerk of the court in which the petition is
filed immediately shall forward a copy of the petition to the

prosecuting attorney of that county.

(C) The court shall consider a petition that is timely

filed under division (A) (2) of this section even if a direct
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appeal of the judgment is pending. Before granting a hearing on 1118
a petition filed under division (A) of this section, the court 1119
shall determine whether there are substantive grounds for 1120
relief. In making such a determination, the court shall 1121
consider, in addition to the petition, the supporting 1122
affidavits, and the documentary evidence, all the files and 1123
records pertaining to the proceedings against the petitioner, 1124
including, but not limited to, the indictment, the court's 1125
journal entries, the journalized records of the clerk of the 1126
court, and the court reporter's transcript. The court reporter's 1127
transcript, if ordered and certified by the court, shall be 1128
taxed as court costs. If the court dismisses the petition, it 1129
shall make and file findings of fact and conclusions of law with 1130
respect to such dismissal. 1131

(D) Within ten days after the docketing of the petition, 1132
or within any further time that the court may fix for good cause 1133
shown, the prosecuting attorney shall respond by answer or 1134
motion. Within twenty days from the date the issues are raised, 1135
either party may move for summary judgment. The right to summary 1136
judgment shall appear on the face of the record. 1137

(E) Unless the petition and the files and records of the 1138
case show the petitioner is not entitled to relief, the court 1139
shall proceed to a prompt hearing on the issues even if a direct 1140
appeal of the case is pending. If the court notifies the parties 1141
that it has found grounds for granting relief, either party may 1142
request an appellate court in which a direct appeal of the 1143
judgment is pending to remand the pending case to the court. 1144

With respect to a petition filed under division (A) (1) (a) 1145
(iii) of this section, the procedures and rules regarding 1146

introduction of evidence and burden of proof at the pretrial 1147




S. B. No. 162
As Introduced

hearing that are set forth in divisions (C), (D), and (F) of

section 2929.025 of the Revised Code apply in considering the

petition. With respect to such a petition, the grounds for

granting relief are that the person has been diagnosed with one

or more of the conditions set forth in division (A) (1) (a) of

section 2929.025 of the Revised Code and that, at the time of

the aggravated murder that was the basis of the sentence of

death, the condition or conditions significantly impaired the

person's capacity in a manner described in division (A) (1) (b)

(1), (ii), or (4ii) of that section.

(F) At any time before the answer or motion is filed, the
petitioner may amend the petition with or without leave or
prejudice to the proceedings. The petitioner may amend the

petition with leave of court at any time thereafter.

(G) If the court does not find grounds for granting
relief, it shall make and file findings of fact and conclusions
of law and shall enter judgment denying relief on the petition.
If no direct appeal of the case is pending and the court finds
grounds for relief or if a pending direct appeal of the case has
been remanded to the court pursuant to a request made pursuant
to division (E) of this section and the court finds grounds for
granting relief, it shall make and file findings of fact and
conclusions of law and shall enter a judgment that vacates and
sets aside the judgment in question, and, in the case of a

petitioner who is a prisoner in custody, except as otherwise

described in this division, shall discharge or resentence the

petitioner or grant a new trial as the court determines

appropriate. If the court finds grounds for relief in the case

of a petitioner who filed a petition under division (A) (1) (a)

(1iii) of this section, the court shall render void the sentence

of death and order the resentencing of the offender under
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division (A) of section 2929.06 of the Revised Code. The court

also may make supplementary orders to the relief granted,
concerning such matters as rearraignment, retrial, custody, and
bail. If the trial court's order granting the petition is
reversed on appeal and if the direct appeal of the case has been
remanded from an appellate court pursuant to a request under
division (E) of this section, the appellate court reversing the
order granting the petition shall notify the appellate court in
which the direct appeal of the case was pending at the time of
the remand of the reversal and remand of the trial court's
order. Upon the reversal and remand of the trial court's order
granting the petition, regardless of whether notice is sent or
received, the direct appeal of the case that was remanded is

reinstated.

(H) Upon the filing of a petition pursuant to division (A)
of this section by a person sentenced to death, only the supreme

court may stay execution of the sentence of death.

(I) (1) If a person sentenced to death intends to file a
petition under this section, the court shall appoint counsel to
represent the person upon a finding that the person is indigent
and that the person either accepts the appointment of counsel or
is unable to make a competent decision whether to accept or
reject the appointment of counsel. The court may decline to
appoint counsel for the person only upon a finding, after a
hearing if necessary, that the person rejects the appointment of
counsel and understands the legal consequences of that decision

or upon a finding that the person is not indigent.

(2) The court shall not appoint as counsel under division
(I) (1) of this section an attorney who represented the

petitioner at trial in the case to which the petition relates
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unless the person and the attorney expressly request the
appointment. The court shall appoint as counsel under division
(I) (1) of this section only an attorney who is certified under
Rule 20 of the Rules of Superintendence for the Courts of Ohio
to represent indigent defendants charged with or convicted of an
offense for which the death penalty can be or has been imposed.
The ineffectiveness or incompetence of counsel during
proceedings under this section does not constitute grounds for
relief in a proceeding under this section, in an appeal of any
action under this section, or in an application to reopen a

direct appeal.

(3) Division (I) of this section does not preclude
attorneys who represent the state of Ohio from invoking the
provisions of 28 U.S.C. 154 with respect to capital cases that
were pending in federal habeas corpus proceedings prior to July
1, 1996, insofar as the petitioners in those cases were
represented in proceedings under this section by one or more
counsel appointed by the court under this section or section
120.06, 120.16, 120.26, or 120.33 of the Revised Code and those
appointed counsel meet the requirements of division (I) (2) of

this section.

(J) Subject to the appeal of a sentence for a felony that
is authorized by section 2953.08 of the Revised Code, the remedy
set forth in this section is the exclusive remedy by which a
person may bring a collateral challenge to the validity of a
conviction or sentence in a criminal case or to the validity of
an adjudication of a child as a delinquent child for the
commission of an act that would be a criminal offense if
committed by an adult or the validity of a related order of

disposition.
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Sec. 2953.23. (A) Whether a hearing is or is not held on a 1239
petition filed pursuant to section 2953.21 of the Revised Code, 1240
a court may not entertain a petition filed after the expiration 1241
of the period prescribed in division (A) of that section or a 1242
second petition or successive petitions for similar relief on 1243
behalf of a petitioner unless division (A) (1) or (2) of this 1244
section applies: 1245

(1) Both of the following apply: 1246

(a) Either the petitioner shows that the petitioner was 1247
unavoidably prevented from discovery of the facts upon which the 1248
petitioner must rely to present the claim for relief, or, 1249
subsequent to the period prescribed in division (A) (2) of 1250
section 2953.21 of the Revised Code or to the filing of an 1251
earlier petition, the United States Supreme Court recognized a 1252
new federal or state right that applies retroactively to persons 1253
in the petitioner's situation, and the petition asserts a claim 1254
based on that right. 1255

(b) The petitioner shows by clear and convincing evidence 1256
that, but for constitutional error at trial, no reasonable 1257
factfinder would have found the petitioner guilty of the offense 1258
of which the petitioner was convicted or, if the claim 1259
challenges a sentence of death that, but for constitutional 1260
error at the sentencing hearing, no reasonable factfinder would 1261
have found the petitioner eligible for the death sentence. 1262

(2) The petitioner was convicted of a felony, the 1263
petitioner is an offender for whom DNA testing was performed 1264
under sections 2953.71 to 2953.81 of the Revised Code or under 1265
former section 2953.82 of the Revised Code and analyzed in the 1266
context of and upon consideration of all available admissible 1267

evidence related to the inmate's case as described in division 1268
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(D) of section 2953.74 of the Revised Code, and the results of
the DNA testing establish, by clear and convincing evidence,
actual innocence of that felony offense or, if the person was
sentenced to death, establish, by clear and convincing evidence,
actual innocence of the aggravating circumstance or
circumstances the person was found guilty of committing and that

is or are the basis of that sentence of death.

As used in this division, "actual innocence" has the same
meaning as in division (A) (1)-#er(c) of section 2953.21 of the
Revised Code, and "former section 2953.82 of the Revised Code"
has the same meaning as in division (A) (1)+4e)>(d) of section

2953.21 of the Revised Code.

(B) An order awarding or denying relief sought in a
petition filed pursuant to section 2953.21 of the Revised Code
is a final judgment and may be appealed pursuant to Chapter

2953. of the Revised Code.

Section 2. That existing sections 2929.02, 2929.022,
2929.024, 2929.03, 2929.04, 2929.06, 2953.21, and 2953.23 of the

Revised Code are hereby repealed.
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